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CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I will open the hearing on Senate Bill (S.B.) 256.  
 
SENATE BILL 256: Revises provisions relating to the Board of Dental Examiners 

of Nevada. (BDR 54-549) 
 
SENATOR JAMES A. SETTELMEYER (Senatorial District No. 17): 
This bill comes from the Sunset Subcommittee for the Legislative Commission. I 
was the chair of the Sunset Subcommittee during the 2015-2016 Interim. The 
Board of Dental Examiners consists of 11 members appointed by the Governor. 
Its main purpose is to license and discipline dentists and dental hygienists. It is 
this disciplining that triggered S.B. 256.  
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5186/Overview/
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All the boards and commissions reviewed by the Sunset Subcommittee are 
asked to submit their financial records, minutes, budgets and other records. The 
Dental Board's records were reviewed on December 15, 2015. At several 
meetings of the Sunset Subcommittee, dentists and hygienists spoke on the 
record about the disciplinary process used by the Dental Board and had various 
complaints. When the Sunset Subcommittee examined the budget information 
submitted by the Dental Board, there were concerns about the amounts 
allocated for legal and investigative expenses. At that time, it was 
recommended that we do an audit of the Dental Board's expenses for 2014 and 
2015 to determine if the accusations were founded. That was done, and the 
Legislative Auditor is here to explain their findings and recommendations.  
 
The Auditor made 14 recommendations, most of which the Dental Board has 
accepted. However, the Dental Board did not accept the recommendation that it 
institute an independent review process regarding complaint investigation and 
resolution. The Dental Board testified to the Sunset Subcommittee that it did 
not believe it had the statutory authority to insert a review process between the 
initial investigation conducted by a disciplinary screening officer (DSO) and the 
DSO's subsequent report to the Dental Board's outside counsel. The Auditor 
found that the Dental Board's staff rarely receives documentation as a result of 
investigations, conclusions reached by the DSO or corrective actions 
recommended by the DSO.  
 
I will go through the provisions of S.B. 256. Based on the Auditor's 
recommendations and the position taken by the Dental Board, the Sunset 
Subcommittee suggested the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) be revised to 
require the Dental Board to appoint a panel to review the findings of 
investigations, including files and records. The panel would then submit its 
recommendations as to whether the findings of the investigation be accepted or 
rejected to the Dental Board. The bill requires the Dental Board to consider the 
findings of the panel before it takes any disciplinary action. It also provides that 
the records reviewed by the panel are confidential. The members of the panel 
are immune from civil liability provided under existing law to members and 
employees of the Dental Board. The Board of Medical Examiners has a similar 
review process in place, so this is not a new idea.  
 
The Sunset Subcommittee's vote to request S.B. 256 was unanimous. The bill 
should go a long way to address their concerns about the disciplinary process 
currently followed by the Dental Board.  
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ROCKY COOPER (Legislative Auditor): 
An audit of the Dental Board was conducted by a special request of the Sunset 
Subcommittee and presented to the Audit Subcommittee of the Legislative 
Commission in May 2016. It was then presented to the Sunset Subcommittee 
on June 16, 2016. I submit the findings of this audit for the record (Exhibit C).  
 
The Dental Board originally accepted 11 of the 14 recommendations made by 
this audit and rejected 3 recommendations. After questioning by the Audit 
Subcommittee and Sunset Subcommittee, the Dental Board accepted 
two additional recommendations. The one recommendation that was not 
accepted was to institute an independent review process regarding complaint 
investigation and resolution. This is a key recommendation because complaint 
investigations have been a significant issue for the Dental Board, and a review 
process such as a panel is a fundamental internal control to provide oversight. 
The Dental Board has maintained that a statutory revision is necessary to create 
such a panel. 
 
SHANNON RYAN (Audit Supervisor): 
I will provide a brief summary of the audit report. As you can see on page 4 of 
Exhibit C, the Dental Board received 374 complaints between July 2013 and 
December 2015. Of those, about 64 percent were remanded. Remands occur 
when an investigation performed by a DSO determines that a preponderance of 
evidence of a violation does not exist. Corrective action by the Dental Board 
occurs when the DSO determines it is likely a violation has occurred. When the 
Dental Board enters into corrective action agreements, investigation costs are 
recovered. Page 6 of Exhibit C contains a flow chart detailing the complaint 
resolution process. Page 7 of Exhibit C differentiates between disciplinary and 
non-disciplinary agreements, since the Dental Board enters into both. The audit 
focused on the Dental Board's disciplinary process and costs assessed for 
investigations in 2014 and 2015. Our objective was to determine whether the 
Dental Board has assessed reasonable costs to licensees for investigating and 
resolving complaints and disciplinary matters.  
 
Our findings and recommendations begin on page 8 of Exhibit C. We found the 
Dental Board did not always assess reasonable costs to licensees for 
investigating and resolving complaints and disciplinary matters. As part of 
NRS 622.400, the Dental Board is allowed to recover fees from licensees for 
costs incurred as part of its investigative, administrative and disciplinary 
proceedings. The Dental Board overcharged licensees in about half of its 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500C.pdf
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investigations, including several that were more than $1,000. Overcharges were 
likely due to the Dental Board not having an effective process for determining 
investigation costs.  
 
Four licensees paid over $140,000 to charitable organizations that provide 
health-related services as part of provisions in stipulation agreements. However, 
charitable contributions are not allowed under NRS 631.350. We requested 
Legislative Counsel review this activity of the Dental Board. Legislative Counsel 
concluded the Board is not authorized to provide for a charitable contribution by 
a licensee as a condition of a stipulation agreement. 
 
Page 13 of Exhibit C discusses the Dental Board's legal fees. The Dental 
Board's legal expenses were higher than reported. The Dental Board paid 
$200,000 more on average in legal fees than shown in its financial statements 
for fiscal years 2014 and 2015. This occurred because the actual amount of 
legal expenses was reduced by the cost recoveries related to disciplinary 
matters. The chart on page 13 of Exhibit C shows the actual and reported legal 
expenses for these periods. This practice of reducing actual legal expenses also 
affected the Dental Board's contract with outside counsel. The contract 
approved in October 2013 stated payments were not to exceed $175,000 a 
year. However, payments exceeded $300,000 in calendar years 2014 and 
2015. We also note that the Dental Board could save approximately $100,000 
a year by hiring a general counsel. 
 
Page 16 of Exhibit C discusses the need for investigation results to be reviewed 
by supervisory personnel or an independent review committee. A review 
process would help verify that conclusions and recommendations are based on 
clear and sufficient evidence. The DSO is the sole authority for determining 
whether violations occurred and the associated sanctions for each investigation. 
Preliminary conclusions and recommendations are reported directly to the Dental 
Board's outside counsel, as instructed in the assignment letter. As a result, this 
documentation was rarely received by the Dental Board.  
 
A review is important for ensuring complaints are resolved consistently. Our 
analysis found that certain DSOs executed actions more frequently than others. 
For instance, two DSOs accounted for 49 percent of all disciplinary actions from 
July 1, 2013, to December 31, 2015, but were only assigned 31 percent of the 
cases. Variations in DSO decisions can be found in the chart on page 18 of 
Exhibit C. The other boards we contacted, either other Nevada medical boards 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500C.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500C.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500C.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500C.pdf
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or other state dental boards that assign a staff member or agent to conduct an 
investigation, all had a review process by at least one other party. Although the 
Dental Board's outside counsel indicated a review process would make it more 
difficult to achieve the Dental Board's goal of resolving complaints within 90 
days, we found the average time to resolve disciplinary matters involving Board 
actions was already over 400 days.  
 
Page 19 of Exhibit C notes that the Dental Board's files were incomplete and 
disorganized.  
 
All 14 of our recommendations are contained on page 55 of Exhibit C.  
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Did you say that the move from the outside counsel to the inside counsel would 
save $200,000 a year? Is there a cap on inside counsel fees? Is it a salaried 
position or based on revenue brought in by fees? 
 
MS. RYAN: 
We looked at the State Board of Nursing and the Board of Medical Examiners to 
see what their general counsels are paid. We estimated the savings of 
$100,000 a year based on those salaries, assuming a similar salary would be 
needed for a general counsel at the Dental Board.  
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Members of the public at the Sunset Subcommittee on December 15, 2015, 
testified that licensees were sometimes put into the awkward situation of being 
forced to stipulate in order to avoid investigations going to the Dental Board, 
where they might risk losing their licenses. Will your recommendations prevent 
this from happening? 
 
MS. RYAN: 
We are hopeful that a review process would solidify the findings and 
recommendations of the DSO. If the Dental Board does not concur, that would 
help eliminate some of those problems testified to.  
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
This process is not new. The Board of Medical Examiners currently follows a 
similar procedure.  
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500C.pdf
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With regard to the question about legal counsel, S.B. 256 only deals with the 
independent review process. The other recommendations made in Exhibit C 
were accepted by the Dental Board. I am told they will be making the final 
selection of their counsel on March 24. Interestingly, one of the four finalists for 
this position is the current counsel. 
 
CHRISTIAN PHAM: 
I am a licensed dentist in Nevada and a member of the Las Vegas Dental 
Association (LVDA). I have written testimony in support of S.B. 256 (Exhibit D) 
that details my concerns about the workings of the current Dental Board. I also 
have a flow chart (Exhibit E) showing the complaint process followed by the 
Dental Board. 
 
TINA TSOU (Las Vegas Dental Association): 
I am the secretary of the LVDA. I am here to support S.B. 256. I have written 
testimony (Exhibit F) expressing my distress regarding the findings of the 
Legislative Audit and the actions of the Dental Board. 
 
PHILLIP PALERCAIO (Las Vegas Dental Association): 
I am a dentist licensed to practice in Nevada. I have written testimony 
(Exhibit G) describing the need for this bill. 
 
NAHID MOHAMMADI: 
I am a licensed dentist in Nevada. I have written testimony (Exhibit H) in support 
of S.B. 256. My testimony also includes a suggestion for a small amendment to 
section 1, subsection 1 of the bill.  
 
ERIN NEGRETE (Las Vegas Dental Association): 
I am a licensed dental hygienist and a member of the LVDA. I have written 
testimony (Exhibit I) in support of S.B. 256. My testimony also gives a 
suggestion for a small amendment to the bill regarding dispute mediation. 
 
ADRIAN RUIZ (President, Las Vegas Dental Association): 
I am a Nevada licensed dentist. I have written testimony (Exhibit J) expressing 
my support for S.B. 256 and my suggestions for improving the bill. I am 
disturbed to hear that the Dental Board's current attorney is being considered 
for the position. That is outrageous. 
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500C.pdf
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CHAIR ATKINSON: 
The Committee will review your proposed amendments. 
 
WILLIAM C. HORNE (Board of Dental Examiners of Nevada): 
We are neutral on S.B. 256. We would like to suggest that the language in 
section 1, subsection 1 be changed to read, " … license to practice dentistry or 
dental hygiene, or any combination … ." This was brought to my attention last 
night, so this is merely a suggestion.  
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
I appreciate that suggestion, since dental hygienists are covered by the Dental 
Board.  
 
I believe S.B. 256 will go a long way to address some of the concerns we have 
heard about the Dental Board, both today and in the Sunset Subcommittee. I 
will take all the suggested amendments into consideration.  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I will close the hearing on S.B. 256 and open the hearing on S.B. 204.  
 
SENATE BILL 204: Requires the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada to 

investigate and establish a requirement for certain electric utilities to 
procure energy storage systems under certain circumstances. (BDR 58-
642) 

 
SARA VAN CLEVE (Tesla Motors, Inc.): 
I manage energy storage policy for Tesla. This bill is the result of a year of 
discussion with stakeholders in Nevada, particularly at the Governor's New 
Energy Industry Task Force (NEITF) last summer. I had the privilege of serving 
on the Distributed Generation and Storage Subcommittee of the NEITF.  
 
Senate Bill 204 would direct the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada (PUCN) 
to undertake an investigation into cost-effective energy storage systems in 
Nevada. These storage systems would have to provide benefits greater than 
their cost, resulting in a savings to ratepayers. If there are cost-effective storage 
systems available, the PUCN would set targets for the utilities to buy a certain 
amount of storage each year. If there are no cost-effective storage systems 
available, the utilities would not have to buy them. There is no downside for 
Nevada ratepayers in this bill. 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/5078/Overview/
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I will run through S.B. 204 section by section. I have also provided a 
presentation (Exhibit K) to illustrate some of my points. Section 1 of the bill is a 
high-level overview of the benefits energy storage can provide to the grid, from 
reducing the need to invest in new generation to reducing the need to build new 
transmission distribution. Energy storage helps integrate renewable energy, 
enhance grid stability and reduce greenhouse gases and other emissions. This 
section of the bill also acknowledges that there are barriers to getting storage 
into the grid, many stemming from the fact that it is a new technology. We 
have not had storage in the grid in the past, and there is still much to be learned 
and developed in this area.  
 
Sections 3 through 6 of the bill provide definitions. The most notable is in 
section 5, which defines energy storage system as: 
 

… commercially available technology that is capable of retaining 
energy, storing the energy for a period of time and delivering the 
energy after storage, including, without limitation, by chemical, 
thermal or mechanical means. 

 
This is a broad definition to ensure the bill does not limit the PUCN to one type 
of energy storage technology or pick winners and losers. 
 
Page 2 of Exhibit K shows some of the different types of energy storage 
technology. Tesla's battery storage products are shown on the right side of the 
page. The smaller unit on the left is for residential customers, and the larger unit 
on the right is for utility-scale, commercial and industrial needs. There are a host 
of other technologies, including flow batteries, flywheels, compressed air, 
pumped hydroelectricity and more. This bill covers all those technologies so that 
winners and losers can be determined by economics.  
 
Section 7 of S.B. 204 directs the PUCN to determine if it is in the public interest 
to establish targets for storage for the utilities.  
 
We submitted a proposed amendment to the bill (Exhibit L) with two changes. 
One is to change the date in section 7 of the bill from October 1, 2018, to 
July 1, 2018. The PUCN currently has an open investigation into storage, and 
July 1, 2018, is more than two years since that investigation was opened. It is 
also a year after the bill's effective date. We think that is a good amount of 
time, and we want to get these technologies out on the grid.  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500K.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500K.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500L.pdf
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The rest of section 7 talks about the different applications of energy storage the 
PUCN should consider, including integrating renewable energy, improving 
reliability and so on. Section 7, subsection 2, paragraph (b) stipulates that the 
PUCN should also look at different points of interconnection for energy storage. 
We want them to consider utility-scale generation, but we also want them to 
consider how energy storage systems can be distributed directly on the 
distribution system, in customers' houses and at large energy-user sites.  
 
As you can see on page 3 of Exhibit K, we are seeing cost-effective energy 
storage deployed just about everywhere on the grid. At the generation level, it 
helps existing fossil fuel generation to run more smoothly. In transmission and 
distribution, it offsets the need to build new infrastructure. On customer sites, it 
helps them manage their energy bills and provides backup power. Again, these 
resources can be aggregated up to help support the utilities and reduce peak 
need on the grid.  
 
Section 7, subsection 3 of S.B. 204 defines how we determine storage to be in 
the public interest. Storage is in the public interest if the benefits to customers 
of the electric utility exceed the cost of the procurement of those systems. 
These should be known, measurable benefits. Subsection 3 lists some of those 
benefits, which are the same types of benefits the utilities consider when 
deciding whether to build new generation or transmission structures. These 
benefits include offsetting building new structures, reducing line loss, voltage 
support and others. There are also costs beyond the cost of the storage system, 
which include integration costs like control systems and administration. We 
want to make sure all the pieces are added up in the determination of 
cost-effectiveness.  
 
Section 8 of the bill says that if the PUCN determines storage targets are in the 
public interest, they are to adopt regulations on a number of matters. 
Subsection 1 speaks to setting annual targets for the utilities. These targets 
would increase over time, with the idea that there is much to be learned about 
how these systems integrate in the grid. We want to start small and make sure 
we know what we are doing before we go big. Subsection 2 tells the PUCN to 
set the locations on the grid for storage systems. This is not locations down to 
the street or substation level. Rather, it is more deciding whether these 
resources should be behind the meter, utility scale or some combination of the 
two. Subsection 4 requires the PUCN to establish requirements for the utilities 
to file plans on how they are going to meet the targets.  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500K.pdf
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We have been talking with NV Energy for some months about this bill, and we 
are sensitive to the fact that they may have to do a number of different plans 
and studies, such as those required by S.B. 146, at the same time.  
 
SENATE BILL 146: Requires certain electric utilities to file a distributed 

resources plan with the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada. (BDR 58-
15) 

 
We want to make sure the studies required by S.B. 204 are consistent with 
studies that are being done elsewhere. Storage is a good resource to be used on 
the distribution system, so if they are doing distribution resource planning, that 
can and should sync up with the study on where storage should be located. 
 
Section 8, subsection 5 requires the PUCN to reevaluate the annual targets set 
for the utilities every three years. We want a refresh of the program to make 
sure we are on the right track, since energy storage is so new.  
 
Section 8, subsection 6 of the bill includes a safety valve of sorts. This 
provision requires the PUCN to establish a process by which the utilities will be 
able to defer storage procurement if there are no cost-effective resources 
available at the time. That is an important piece. We are comfortable that there 
will be opportunities to buy economic storage eventually, and we do not want 
anyone to be concerned that this will increase costs for ratepayers. It should 
only decrease those costs.  
 
Section 9 of the bill states that if the PUCN establishes targets for the utilities, 
the utilities should procure systems that are either centralized or distributed and 
owned by the utility or third parties.  
 
The other amendment in Exhibit L goes in subsection 1 of section 9. It clarifies 
that there should be more than one resource, and also that the determination on 
whether resources should be centralized or distributed or owned by the utility or 
not should be generally prescribed in regulation. The goal is not for PUCN to 
specify exactly how many megawatts (MW) should be owned by the utility and 
how many should be owned by a third party. Rather, the PUCN should provide 
enough guidance to ensure diversity, especially at these early stages in the 
energy storage market.  
 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/4982/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500L.pdf
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SENATOR HARDY: 
You referred to targets, but the bill talks about requirements. Did you mean 
requirements rather than targets? 
 
MS. VAN CLEVE: 
Yes. I have no preference as to which word is used. It is the same thing when 
you have the safety valve in section 8, subsection 6. It is only a requirement to 
the extent that there is cost-effective storage.  
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
You are saying that if the utility misses the target, it will not get penalized 
because it did not meet the requirement. 
 
MS. VAN CLEVE: 
That is correct. 
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
Section 8 is quite prescriptive. It has the PUCN setting forth locations and 
adopting annual requirements that increase, and I am not sure we have seen 
that before. I know utilities do an integrated resource plan (IRP) to determine 
what they need every three years. We need to look closely at section 8 of the 
bill, since that is the reverse of what has been happening.  
 
Having said that, everyone agrees storage is something we need to look at. It is 
important that the PUCN conduct an investigation so we can figure out the best 
way to incorporate it. 
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
There is an important component missing in S.B. 204, which is government 
regulation. In the past, NV Energy has tried to do battery storage in 
Lyon County and Douglas County, but they were thwarted by the government 
saying they could not because homeowners protested, saying they did not want 
these structures in their backyards. If this bill goes forward, the utilities need to 
have the ability to say that they tried but couldn't because the government got 
in the way.  
 
DANIEL WITT (Tesla Motors, Inc.): 
I would like to give a brief outline of Tesla's interest in this bill. The batteries we 
produce fit just about everywhere on the grid. The photos you see on page 4 of 
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Exhibit K are products that exist today for residential locations, commercial 
locations, private businesses, industrial-level substations and, at a grander level, 
island economies. All of these batteries were produced at the Gigafactory in 
Storey County. 
 
Tesla's interest in this market, which has grown substantially in the last few 
years, has manifested itself in over 300 megawatt-hours (MWh) of storage in a 
short period of time. As you can see on page 5 of Exhibit K, the dots show 
where we have installations today, with the largest dot representing the 
Gigafactory in Storey County. Some of the economics of storage are impacted 
by local geography. Installation of a microgrid  is appetizing to island economies 
because they have to import a great deal of their fuel and energy.  
 
When policies like these go into effect, they drive the industry as a whole. Tesla 
and several other companies have benefited from certainty in the market, as you 
can see on page 6 of Exhibit K. This is a larger economy that has the potential 
to benefit the State, more so than that one large building in northern Nevada. 
There are many businesses that are eager to expand into Nevada.  
 
DANIEL KOLTA (8minutenergy Renewables, LLC): 
We are here in support of S.B. 204. I have written testimony (Exhibit M) 
expressing the importance of this bill. 
 
MANAL YAMOUT (Advanced Microgrid Solutions): 
We are in support of this bill.  
 
Let me explain what Advanced Microgrid Solutions (AMS) does to illustrate 
what S.B. 204 can do for the State of Nevada. AMS is an energy services 
company, meaning that we own, operate, finance and install energy storage 
systems for the benefit of large energy users and utilities. We create what we 
call hybrid electric buildings. This means we work with large energy users like 
hospitals, hotels, universities, casinos and water districts. We install energy 
storage systems for them on site, typically behind the customer meter. The 
batteries charge at night when the grid has a lot of excess power and power 
tends to be less expensive, and the energy in the battery is used to offset the 
building's peak energy usage during the day.  
 
We call these installations hybrid electric buildings because they resemble hybrid 
electric cars. When I drive my hybrid electric car, software switches the energy 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500K.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500K.pdf
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500K.pdf
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use from the gasoline engine to the battery in real time to ensure efficient 
operation. That is what AMS does with buildings. All day long, the building's 
energy use is constantly shifted from the electric grid to the battery to make 
sure the building is operating as efficiently as possibly. This results in significant 
savings for large energy users. A typical water agency with a handful of hybrid 
electric buildings would save on the order of $500,000 a year, which they are 
then able to pass on to the people they serve.  
 
This process gets more interesting when you have 10, 20 or 100 of these 
buildings in one load-constrained part of the grid. We can use software to turn 
aggregates of these buildings into virtual power plants and then give the utility 
control, visibility and control of the fleet, in much the same way as they would 
control a natural gas plant or other generation facility. In fact, we are currently 
building a large 90 MW, 360 MWh fleet for Southern California Edison in a part 
of the grid in Los Angeles where they do not have room to build additional 
generation. Storage is a cost-effective and efficient way to meet the need on 
the transmission distribution system in densely populated areas where utilities 
do not have the room or the political appetite to do large upgrades to existing 
infrastructure.  
 
There are many variations of our business model emerging all over the country. 
In fact, AMS exists because of legislation similar to this one. We started the 
company four years ago immediately after another state passed a bill much like 
this. All of us are scouring the world to decide where to go next, and because 
of this bill, Nevada is now on the top of everyone's list. With its passage and 
eventual enactment, we look forward to doing business here, and we look 
forward to helping Nevada become the nation's clean energy leader.  
 
ROSE MCKINNEY-JAMES (Valley Electric Association, Inc.): 
We are here in support of S.B. 204.  
 
Valley Electric Association is a 52-year-old member-owned nonprofit utility 
cooperative based in Pahrump, Nevada. Valley has been actively engaged in 
providing a range of clean energy options to members, including what we 
believe to be the largest community solar project in the United States and which 
we plan to roll out later this year. This is a 15 MW solar generation project that 
uses approximately 54,000 photovoltaic solar panels to be installed on 80 acres 
in Pahrump. The output of the project will be made available to all Valley 
members at a competitive price that will be lower than current electric rate, 
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with the provision that the energy flow in a dispatchable-generation consumer 
battery pack. In other words, we plan to blend storage technology with a 
renewable resource to maximize the performance of the system.  
 
In our view, the true value of storage is its ability to mitigate the intermittent 
nature of renewables, as well as the opportunity to maximize the efficiency and 
reliability of these systems. It allows us to embrace innovation and capture 
technology that is so important to the future of customer independence. By 
adopting a policy framework that includes storage, Nevada turns an important 
corner in its renewable energy deployment. 
 
As a member-owned cooperative, Valley is currently outside of the regulatory 
oversight authority of the PUCN. However, we support the bill and the proposed 
amendment in Exhibit L. We would like to continue to work with the proponents 
of the bill to further refine and clarify language regarding barriers to 
interconnection, distribution, transmission and our ability to service behind the 
customer meter.  
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
I know some of the rural co-ops are worried about legislation that would include 
them. Since you brought it up, are you volunteering to put Valley under the 
PUCN's jurisdiction? 
 
MS. MCKINNEY-JAMES: 
Valley believes it should continue to be independent of PUCN oversight. There 
are certain aspects of our operations which do fall under the PUCN, and we 
comply with them. I am not authorized or prepared to voluntarily subject Valley 
to additional regulatory oversight.  
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
What kind of pay do people make in the industries providing energy storage? 
 
MS. YAMOUT: 
At AMS, most of the people we employ tend to be either on the software side 
or engineers, and the pay scale is significantly high. I cannot get into details, 
but we are based in San Francisco, and it is very competitive. We typically 
contract out the work to build the projects, depending on the needs of the host, 
and those jobs tend to be slightly lower paid. In terms of jobs here in Nevada, if 
the growth of the market is significant, we would potentially have people live 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500L.pdf


Senate Committee on Commerce, Labor and Energy 
March 15, 2017 
Page 16 
 
here and be part of the team full-time. Once the systems are built, they will be 
operated automatically, and most of the jobs will consist of building and 
maintaining the projects over their 10- to 20-year life.  
 
MR. KOLTA: 
Whenever possible, 8minutenergy attempts to do utility-scale solar with battery 
storage on-site. Development of those projects often requires a team as large as 
1,000 construction workers. I cannot speak to salaries, but there are a lot of 
jobs associated with these projects. 
 
JESSICA FERRATO (Solar Energy Industries Association): 
We represent 1,000 member companies nationwide, and we are here in support 
of S.B. 204. This bill creates opportunity and fosters innovation in Nevada. It 
will move our State in an exciting direction. I am waiting on feedback on the 
amendments but look forward to working with the folks from Tesla and others 
on the bill. 
 
RAY FAKHOURY (Advanced Energy Economy): 
We are in support of S.B. 204.  
 
We are a national business organization that works on policies to make energy 
more clean, secure and affordable. Our membership includes companies like 
AMS that are here today testifying in support of this bill. We also work with 
large purchasers like Facebook and Amazon. These organizations believe storage 
will drive a competitive market in Nevada and create local jobs. 
 
As of 2015, there were over $6 billion of investments in advanced energy 
technologies in Nevada that created 27,000 jobs. It is important for Nevada to 
incorporate energy storage as the State looks to lead on advanced energy. 
Lawmakers are currently considering moving the State to 80 percent renewable 
energy by 2040, and this bill is integral in getting the State to that level. 
 
Investing in energy storage would create market opportunities for large-scale 
and individual customers, who would then be able to better utilize and control 
their energy costs. Furthermore, storage supports good reliability at times of 
increased demand, offsets costly peak resources and is able to offset other 
costly investments.  
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In order for Nevada to be a national leader in advanced energy technologies, 
lawmakers must support bills like S.B. 204 that explore the possibility of 
deploying energy storage as a cost-competitive technology. The cost of energy 
storage technologies have declined rapidly, on average about 12 to 15 percent 
over the last 6 years. Increasing deployment in Nevada will allow the State to 
capitalize on the economic and market benefits of energy storage technologies. 
These technologies are currently being manufactured in Nevada as well. 
 
Simply put, energy storage could be a game changer for driving the economy in 
Nevada.  
 
SUSAN FISHER (Southern Nevada Home Builders Association): 
We support this bill with the proposed amendments. New home buyers are 
looking for sustainable energy features in homes now when they are going to 
buy. Energy storage provides homeowners with the flexibility to optimize 
time-of-use metering rates, which will allow them to store energy during 
off-peak times, which also benefits the utility company. Storage can also help 
the builder community save costs on infrastructure.  
 
KATHLEEN LAUCKNER, PH.D.: 
I am here in support of S.B. 204. I am sitting alone at the table today, but I am 
not alone in supporting this bill. The room is filled with people who have also 
come to support it, though they will not testify today. 
 
I am a volunteer board member for the Nevada Conservation League. I am also 
an educator at the University of Nevada, Las Vegas, and Nevada State College. 
We see the importance of storage and renewable energy from the standpoint of 
education and businesses and bringing jobs to the State.  
 
KYLE DAVIS (Nevada Conservation League): 
We are in support of S.B. 204. I agree with the arguments as to why this is an 
important part of moving Nevada forward into a clean energy economy. I look 
forward to helping in any way I can. 
 
JENNIFER TAYLOR (Executive Director, Clean Energy Project): 
I testify today in support of S.B. 204. This bill will provide direction to the 
PUCN to study the benefits to the grid of storage technology. The Clean Energy 
Project (CEP) has deep roots in Nevada's clean technology revolution. Storage is 
the next frontier in our advanced energy economy and a key component of our 
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clean energy future. As we increase our use of renewable energy sources, such 
as solar, wind and geothermal, energy storage is going to be an increasingly 
valuable tool for holding intermittent renewable generation when it is needed. 
 
The CEP supports this bill and its analysis of the benefits of energy storage 
systems. We believe it is an important foundational step to removing barriers to 
larger scale use of storage and energy planning. This bill codifies a deliberative 
process by which the PUCN is enabled to determine what is appropriate for 
Nevada with input from utilities, customers and other stakeholders.  
 
Storage provides the potential to reduce costs to ratepayers and to allow 
businesses like CEP supporters exercise greater control of how they use energy 
and to manage their operational costs. In addition, storage can be used by 
businesses in peak-shaving and demand-response systems. Empowering 
customers to be active participants in our energy future will drive down costs 
and make our grid more resilient. This burgeoning technology will also continue 
to create jobs, as we have seen at Tesla's Gigafactory, and drive greater 
deployment of Nevada's clean energy resources.  
 
We know that storage technologies are not hypothetical, as they are being used 
by utilities in Vermont, New York and Ontario, Canada. We know that storage 
technologies are increasingly affordable. Both utility-scale and individual energy 
storage technologies like lithium-ion batteries are becoming more commercially 
available as technology advances drive down costs and increase adoption. A 
recent study demonstrated that the combination of manufacturing scale and 
incremental technology advancement for lithium-ion batteries is driving down 
the cost of storage for the grid from more than $1,000 per kilowatt hour (kWh) 
in 2010 to less than $500 per kWh today. Leading lithium-ion battery suppliers 
are signaling prices to fall to the range of $150 to $250 per kWh by the end of 
the decade, which would open up a wide range of grid storage applications. If 
battery costs were to fall to the range of $100 to $150 per kWh, some 
estimates set North American market potential at 35 to 60 gigawatts by 2030.  
 
The technological advancements and drastic cost reductions in storage provide 
a strategic opportunity for the PUCN to analyze how to integrate this new 
resource. Studying this resource and providing a framework for its use will allow 
Nevada consumers to capitalize on the economic benefits of energy storage 
systems that are already manufactured in the State.  
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TOM POLIKALAS: 
I am here in support of S.B. 204. Battery storage is one way to increase the 
resiliency of the grid and enhance national security. In addition, there are some 
utilities, like Green Mountain Power in Vermont, that provide battery storage in 
a variety of configurations, including one in which the utility can access the 
energy in batteries for demand-response measure. There are others in which it is 
a consumer feature, since, as Ms. Fisher mentioned, consumers are interested in 
battery storage. I would love to see Nevada continue to build on its leadership in 
this important technology, which is growing in significance and opportunity. 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
With regard to the national security aspects of this bill, I have a quote from a 
paper published by the CNA Military Advisory Board titled "National Security 
and Assured U.S. Electrical Power": 
 

The vulnerabilities and risk inherent in the current U.S. electrical 
grid demand a new approach to our nation's power paradigm. … 
Technological advancements in distributed power generation, 
power distribution, energy storage and island architecture—
coupled with the wide range of available energy sources—make 
the development of new, resilient, reliable, clean, and affordable 
modern electricity systems not only possible, but in our 
assessment, imperative.  
 

BRIAN BEFFORT (Toiyabe Chapter, Sierra Club): 
We support S.B. 204. I have written testimony (Exhibit N) expressing our 
support. 
 
KEVIN MCGEHEE (Nevada Data Mining): 
I am a small business owner in Reno. I am here to support S.B. 204 because I 
believe it will enhance and improve the security of our overall electric grid while 
positioning Nevada as a leader in clean energy technology, essentially making 
Nevada a clean energy Mecca.  
 
TOBI TYLER: 
I am speaking in support of this bill. As one who put in a solar system on my 
house and was connected to the grid, I think this is an excellent opportunity to 
expand and analyze the energy storage systems, which are improving daily. 
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FRED VOLTZ: 
I am here in opposition to S.B. 204. I have written testimony (Exhibit O) 
explaining my concerns about the bill. 
 
PATRICK S. EGAN (NV Energy): 
We are neutral on S.B. 204. 
 
For NV Energy, energy storage has been considered a viable technology that 
can solve problems. The issue to date has been price. The technology has 
existed for some time, and that is part of what we have discussed in the 
investigatory docket. Until recently, it has been relatively expensive. More 
recently, the Crescent Dunes Solar Energy Project near Tonopah has combined 
technology of both generation and storage, making it a valuable addition to our 
grid resources.  
 
In addition, there are demonstration projects in the U.S. and worldwide, some 
as a result of mandates, some just demonstration projects, and some joint 
efforts with the U.S. Department of Energy. We are tracking all of that to make 
sure we are on top of the technology.  
 
NV Energy has been heavily involved with the investigatory docket on this 
subject, and Tesla and others have been important parts of that. That was 
kicked off in 2016 by the PUCN. As part of that, we have been addressing the 
technology's capability, costs, potential benefits and how it would be deployed 
in Nevada.  
 
One important component to keep note of is that prices have declined a fair 
amount over the last year. One of the key elements in the equation in evaluating 
the benefits of battery technology is the price customers would pay. It is a 
different equation in Nevada than it would be in California or elsewhere. There 
are places on the grid where there are potential benefits. Senator Settelmeyer 
referred to our proposed project in Smith Valley. Permitting was the issue, but it 
was a good example of storage being an in-lieu-of benefit relative to other 
technologies. We think it would have been great for the community.  
 
We are taking a look at our capital budget for both proposed projects and 
solutions that need to be provided. We are also looking at demonstration 
projects. One thing I know is near and dear to Senator Spearman's heart is 
military applications, but we are also looking at university applications and some 
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specific customer applications. We have developed the model by which we can 
readily do that cost-benefit analysis. We have not proceeded to date, which is 
why this is an appropriate time to proceed with the study. The concept of doing 
the study is one we very much support. 
 
I would note that S.B. 146 is an example of another study, the distributed 
energy resources study, that is being looked at. Between the general rate case, 
our IRP and a number of other activities, we currently have a great deal of 
planning that we do on a regular basis. The date of the amendment in Exhibit L 
is July 1, 2018, and that is the date of our IRP next year. That is one of the 
things we want to navigate through, and it is part of what we have been talking 
to Tesla about for the last month.  
 
We are neutral on S.B. 204 in part because we want to make sure we are given 
the opportunity to work through amendments to make sure this works for our 
customers and that we can actually do the work that needs to be done. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
What is it about Crescent Dunes that makes it not as effective as we thought it 
would be? Is it a generation or a storage issue? 
 
MR. EGAN: 
We consider it to be both. It is identified as a generation resource, but it can be 
deployed to get up to 110 MW for 10 hours. We have tested the technology, 
and from a storage standpoint it would work that way. The issues are being 
rectified. There is a storage tank that had a minor leak, but it will come back 
online shortly.  
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
You mentioned your IRP. I assume that means you are currently determining 
whether you want to use storage. When you look at storage, are you looking at 
different placements for it, such as in transmission or distribution? 
 
MR. EGAN: 
It is something we have looked at and hope to fit into the IRP. Later this year, 
we will be issuing a Request For Proposals and probably a Request For 
Information on renewable technology and storage technology. What we want to 
get back from the marketplace is how that can be priced, whether there are 
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better applications if you pair storage with renewable energy, whether that will 
impact the price charged for the product, and more.  
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
Do you have any suggestions as to how this fits in with the renewable portfolio 
standard? Can you use more renewables if you have something like storage to 
balance your load? 
 
MR. EGAN: 
Storage does not count formally today, and it is not referenced in the IRP 
statute. That is something the Legislature could take up if it desired. It might 
provide some assistance, but I do not know that I would personally recommend 
that. Storage is certainly a helpful component addressing the intermittency of 
renewables, especially wind and solar. The wind blows when it wants, the sun 
shines when it does, and having a storage resource would be helpful in that 
regard. But it has to fit back into the overall cost picture that the IRP produces.  
 
GARRETT WEIR (Public Utilities Commission of Nevada): 
The PUCN recognizes the need to continue to explore ways to effectively deploy 
energy storage. We share the excitement you heard today regarding emerging 
technologies. As Mr. Egan said, the PUCN currently has an open investigatory 
docket where we are examining some of these issues. It is presided over by the 
chair of the PUCN, Joseph Reynolds. We welcome further legislative guidance 
on these issues.  
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
Can you explain the zero-dollar fiscal note? I am curious how the PUCN does 
things without paying for them. 
 
MR. WEIR: 
With inquiries such as these, we would use personnel we currently have on 
staff. It will naturally require their time. As additional resource planning and 
reviews are required of the PUCN, we will reach a threshold where additional 
resources are necessary. We believe we can absorb this one proposal in 
isolation with existing resources.  
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
In section 8 of S.B. 204, it has the PUCN establishing annual requirements. 
Does the PUCN do that in any other case? 
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MR. WEIR: 
When it comes to targets, we follow the Legislature's direction. Otherwise, it 
would be at the discretion of the PUCN to establish what is deemed a prudent 
plan for meeting the demands on the utility system. In this instance, the PUCN 
would have discretion to identify what is a prudent target to set for those 
storage resources.  
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
The terms "target" and "requirement" have been used interchangeably, but I am 
not sure they are. What is the PUCN's view? 
 
MR. WEIR: 
In resource planning generally, the PUCN is identifying whether a plan is 
prudent. It accepts a particular course of action as prudent if the utility could 
reasonably expect to recover costs if it carries it out. The situation in this bill is 
slightly different, in that it would have the PUCN establish a target or 
requirement. It has been my experience that the utility attempts to achieve 
those targets. The PUCN always reserves the right to administratively fine or 
penalize for noncompliance with any order of the PUCN's. But I would imagine 
the utility would attempt to comply with whatever target or requirement the 
PUCN establishes in an order. 
 
SENATOR GANSERT: 
Right now we have one large electric company and some cooperatives providing 
electricity. I am not sure how this bill will work in an open market, with all sorts 
of different companies coming into the State, if they each have to meet 
requirements or the cumulative effect has to meet some requirement. 
 
MR. WEIR: 
I agree that it becomes complicated when you have a lot of market participants. 
A lot of the regulatory requirements would need to be reevaluated if we 
transition to a competitive market with other participants. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
I am intrigued by the guidance you are looking for from the Legislature. Is this 
the kind of guidance you want, that will allow you to figure out the benefits to 
the consumer? Traditionally, benefits to the consumer are lower costs. What 
guidance are you looking for from us? 
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MR. WEIR: 
To the extent that the Legislature identifies policy objectives and feels that 
supporting a particular industry or exploring particular technologies is a 
Legislative goal or priority, we welcome explicit guidance to pursue that policy.  
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
Would S.B. 204 change your direction from consumer cost savings to an 
energy-producing savings? 
 
MR. WEIR: 
The way I read this bill, it requires a cost-effectiveness analysis. We would not 
be requiring the deployment of technologies or the adoption of a procurement 
plan that required deploying resources that were not deemed cost effective by 
the PUCN. The cost would still matter. 
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
The cost to the consumer? 
 
MR. WEIR: 
Yes. 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
Regarding Senator Gansert's concern, that was one of the things we addressed 
in S.B. 65, S.B. 150 and S.B. 146 last week. 
 
SENATE BILL 65: Revises provisions related to the filing by certain electric 

utilities of an integrated resource plan. (BDR 58-167) 
 
SENATE BILL 150: Revises provisions related to energy efficiency programs. 

(BDR 58-568) 
 
The Subcommittee on Energy is attempting to look at all the energy bills through 
the lens of growth and take it into account.  
 
With respect to guidance to the PUCN, there is some information contained in 
those bills in terms of what might be considered. I appreciate your questions, 
and that is something we will probably take a closer look at with upcoming bills. 
Part of what we are doing in the Subcommittee is making sure that whatever 
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we lay down as part of the overall energy strategy is appropriate for the 
expansion of growth in Nevada.  
 
ANGELA DYKEMA (Director, Office of Energy, Office of the Governor): 
While we are not yet taking a position on S.B. 204, I am here to offer a little 
context and insight on the policy implications as it fits into our State energy 
goals.  
 
First, I want to reiterate Governor Sandoval's support for clean and renewable 
energy and our vision for Nevada to become a leader in this new and emerging 
industry. We have consistently supported innovative new technologies and the 
economic benefits they bring to the State. We recognize that while the 
integration of intermittent renewable energy brings challenges, it also brings 
opportunities to address new grid technologies through State and regional 
planning that will help us modernize our grid and strengthen our security and 
energy independence. 
 
As you heard, this bill stems from a unanimous recommendation of the NEITF, 
which I chaired last year. It is consistent with the directives of Executive Order 
2016-04 to address policies that support distributed generation and storage, 
integrate renewable energy technologies into our energy sector, and foster the 
creation of a modern and resilient energy grid. The NEITF was tasked with 
providing recommendations on how best to incorporate these new, emerging 
technologies into our existing business models and what can be changed to 
ensure we are embracing the evolving energy future. We want to put Nevada in 
a position to lead and not be left behind in old ways of thinking.  
 
We recognize that a diversified energy portfolio will require a new approach to 
planning in a way that will enable consideration of new technologies, such as 
distributed generation and storage, while also protecting our citizens from 
unreasonable cost increases. As new technologies advance, they inevitably 
become more affordable, and we want to be ready to take advantage of these 
opportunities and move closer to clean and reliable energy systems in a way 
that makes economic sense.  
 
This bill is consistent with the goals listed in the Governors' Accord for a New 
Energy Future. Those goals included modernizing our infrastructure with 
technology that captures intermittent resources, like Nevada's abundant solar 
energy, to integrate this into our energy portfolio, to ensure system reliability, 
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and to help secure a stronger national energy future by providing added 
reliability and ancillary benefits to the grid.  
 
We have a great opportunity here in Nevada to embrace these new technologies 
and grow our energy sector in a cost-effective and efficient way. However, we 
have to ensure the pathways to realize these opportunities are accessible and 
make sense.  
 
I hope that provides a framework as you consider the merits of this bill. 
 
TERRY GRAVES (Retail Energy Supply Association): 
We are neutral on this bill. Battery storage is a technology that offers the 
potential to change how the electrical grid is structured and how it will be 
operated in the future. We have some of the same concerns expressed by 
NV Energy and Mr. Voltz, particularly on cost-benefit analysis. For example, 
section 7, subsection 3, paragraph (e) of S.B. 204 requires the attention to 
greenhouse gas emissions. Depending on where you stand on that issue, I am 
not sure how you would put a number to it. There is a wide range of values you 
could arrive at. At the same time, I do think the PUCN should be looking at this 
issue. Battery storage is a coming technology.  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
We are doing our best as a State to try to lead in clean energy, and S.B. 204 
goes a long way in accomplishing some of those goals. These are things we 
have to continue to work on and to be open about to make progress. There is 
no doubt that these types of bills bring jobs. I think everyone on this Committee 
will agree that creating jobs for our citizens is one of Nevada's goals. But 
empowering our consumers is also essential. I hope we are able to work on this 
to give the PUCN clear direction.  
 
I have received a letter of support for S.B. 204 from Jason Burwen of the 
Energy Storage Association (Exhibit P). I will close the hearing on S.B. 204 and 
open the hearing on S.B. 206. 
 
SENATE BILL 206: Revises provisions relating to barbering. (BDR 54-535) 
 
GWEN BRAIMOH (State Board of Cosmetology): 
This bill is necessary because the barbering industry is changing and we need to 
be competitive with our surrounding states. We have had several meetings with 
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barber industry leaders in our community, and we have also reached out to the 
State Barbers’ Health and Sanitation Board regarding the provisions of S.B. 206. 
I have a handout (Exhibit Q) detailing the revisions to NRS 643 contained in 
S.B. 206.  
 
Section 1 of the bill increases the term of members of the Barbers' Board from 
three years to four years and limits board members to two terms. I am not sure, 
but I think this provision lets current Board members finish out their terms, and 
the term limits will apply to any new members appointed by the Governor.  
 
Section 2 of the bill requires the Barbers' Board to place its budget and all 
financial reports on its Website.  
 
Section 3 of the bill requires the Barbers' Board to post notice of upcoming 
examinations on its Website at least 60 days before the examinations are to be 
held.  
 
Section 4 of the bill changes the experience requirement to be a barber 
instructor from five years to three years as a full-time licensed barber. 
 
Section 5 of the bill changes statute regarding instructors at barber schools. 
Current statute requires that barber schools be owned and operated by at least 
two barber instructors. This bill would change the statute to require barber 
schools to have two barber instructors providing instruction at the school.  
 
Exhibit Q also lists what some of the states surrounding Nevada do with regard 
to terms on their barbering boards and requirements for barber instructors.  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I note that the title of Exhibit Q refers to both S.B. 206 and S.B. 204. Is that a 
mistake? 
 
MS. BRAIMOH: 
Yes. It refers to S.B. 206 only. 
 
CYNTHIA JONES: 
I am a licensed barber. The change in section 4 of S.B. 206 in the requirements 
for barber instructors will allow barbers to go to school to become instructors. 
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JOHN DAVIS: 
I support S.B. 206. Its changes are needed and necessary for the Barbers' 
Board.  
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
We have passed bills in past sessions to try to increase the opportunity for 
barber schools in northern Nevada. Do we have more than one barber school in 
Nevada at this point? 
 
MR. DAVIS: 
At present, we have two barber colleges, both in southern Nevada.  
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
At the hearing for S.B. 69, we discussed the concept of going to term limits of 
12 years for membership on all State boards and commissions.  
 
SENATE BILL 69: Revises provisions governing state agencies, boards and 

commissions that regulate occupations and professions. (BDR 54-229) 
 
I do not know if you would be comfortable with the idea of making the term 
limit 12 years and making the terms of those who were appointed by the 
current Governor count towards those terms.  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
Are you suggesting that the current Barbers' Board members stay for another 
12 years? 
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
I am suggesting that for the Barbers' Board members appointed by the current 
Governor, 6 years of their time on the Board would count toward the term limit 
of 12 years.  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
What happens to the one Barbers' Board member who has been there for more 
than 20 years? 
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
He would still have the opportunity to serve 6 more years if the next Governor 
chose to appoint him. 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/79th2017/Bill/4716/Overview/
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CHAIR ATKINSON: 
Ms. Braimoh, did you understand Senator Settelmeyer's suggestion? 
 
MS. BRAIMOH: 
Yes, and I think that is pretty much what we were saying. We are not asking 
that Board members be removed if they were appointed by the Governor. We 
are just asking to be competitive with the practices in our neighboring states. 
The term limits in the bill are there to give an opportunity for registered barbers 
and master barbers who have been in the industry to bring new and innovative 
ideas to the Barbers' Board. I am not opposed to Senator Settelmeyer's 
amendment. 
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
Would it be appropriate to consider staggering the existing terms? We do not 
want everyone to leave the Board at the same time. 
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
The terms of the current Barbers' Board members may be staggered now. I 
believe that on all boards but one, the new Governor has the right to ask 
Barbers' Board members to resign and reapply. I question the concept of 
staggering in that respect. After seeing some of the issues we have had on 
other boards, I would hate to take away the new Governor's ability to ask board 
members to resign and reapply.  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I think the terms are probably staggered at this point because each Barbers' 
Board member was appointed at a different time. Senator Settelmeyer is 
suggesting that the 20-year Barbers' Board member serve two more years of his 
current term, and he would then be eligible to serve one more 4-year term. Is 
that right? 
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
Yes, that was my thought. We want to start converting all boards, over time, to 
the concept of term limits so we have new viewpoints, new ideas, just as 
Legislators have term limits.  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I am in favor of that for this bill. I am not picking on anyone, but we heard last 
Session that all the Barbers' Board members had been on the Barbers' Board for 
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more than 20 years, and none of them saw a need to change anything. That 
was alarming to the entire Committee. Having it clear in statute will help 
everyone.  
 
MS. BRAIMOH: 
With regard to section 5 of S.B. 206, we want to make sure each school has to 
have two registered barber instructors. If a school only has one barber 
instructor, if that person gets sick, classes would come to a complete halt. That  
was a concern of all the schools we met with. 
 
NATHANIEL K. LASHORE (President, State Barbers’ Health and Sanitation Board): 
We are not necessarily in opposition to S.B. 206. Some of the things we had 
questions about have been clarified by Ms. Braimoh's testimony and Exhibit Q.  
 
With regard to section 3 of the bill, the dates of all examinations are posted 
annually in December for the upcoming year.  
 
With regard to section 2 of the bill, we present a financial statement quarterly, 
and we do a biannual audit. I do not understand why we need to make all 
financial details public.  
 
SENATOR SPEARMAN: 
My interpretation is the provision is there to make sure there is a level of 
transparency about the Board's actions. At one time, the information was not 
on the Website. The posting of the information also makes sure the people who 
are interested in what the Barbers' Board is doing have an opportunity to 
participate if they want or to testify, make comments, and so on.  
 
ROYAL BYRON III: 
I am the owner and operator of Nevada Barber College, Nevada's first barber 
school. I am neutral on this bill. I have a history with the Board and some of the 
laws addressed in this bill.  
 
Page 4, line 31 of the bill says it does not apply to schools whose license was 
issued before July 2018. Does that pertain to the Barbers' Board? In 
NRS 643.030, section 1, it says no person may serve as president of the Board 
for more than four consecutive years. Mr. LaShore has been there for 20-odd 
years. 
 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/79th2017/Exhibits/Senate/CLE/SCLE500Q.pdf
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When I started the Nevada Barber College, it was not a walk in the park. I have 
been the only barber instructor at the College since it opened, and that is nine 
years. I would like the Committee to really look at the barber industry and some 
of the things that have been going on. I have not explored how to become a 
candidate to be a Barbers' Board member because I was too busy worrying 
about how to keep my doors open. There should be some fairness in the laws, 
rules, and regulations concerning the barbering industry. I feel I have been 
oppressed since these laws have been in effect.  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I do not mean any disrespect, but I need you to focus on just this bill. You were 
there when we talked about the changes in this bill in a conference room in the 
Grant Sawyer Building, and I thought we were on the same page. The language 
you referred to is already in the law and this bill is not changing it. We can look 
at those parts of the law again, but this bill does not change that language.  
 
Regarding the effective date, I think it is a good thing the date has been 
changed from 2017 to 2018. That gives folks a lot more time before the law 
takes effect so they can get their stuff together.  
 
With regard to the language you quoted about how long the president can 
serve, that section of NRS is not in this bill. If that is already in statute, the 
Barbers' Board will have to do a better job enforcing it.  
 
Otherwise, the Committee has done exactly what you are suggesting. We have 
done a lot of work over the years trying to make the Barbers' Board a better 
operational board. We are probably not all the way there yet, but this is another 
effort to try to improve things. We have made significant progress over the last 
few Sessions. I remember the first time I heard a barbers' bill with 
Senator Settelmeyer and Senator Steven Horsford, and I remember how difficult 
it was. I can tell how much better things are now by the fact that there was so 
little opposition to this bill today.  
 
We are trying to make things better, and we will continue to try. If there is 
anything in this bill that you would like to see changed or to get clarification on, 
we want to hear it.  
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MR. BYRON: 
Thank you. When Senator Settelmeyer was talking about Barbers' Board 
members serving for 12 years, I noted that NRS 643.030 says the president of 
the Barbers' Board shall not serve as president for more than 4 years. I was 
trying to get some clarity on that. 
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I appreciate Senator Settelmeyer's suggestion about 12-year term limits. 
Section 1, subsection 2 of the bill says, "A member of the Board shall not serve 
more than two terms." That would be eight years, and I think I heard from the 
proponents of the bill that they are okay with that. We will work on that 
suggested fix. 
 
MARCUS ALLEN (Masterpiece Barber College): 
I am the owner and operator of Masterpiece Barber College.  
 
Regarding section 5, subsection 5 of the bill, I wanted to stress that it is very 
important to have at least two barber instructors.  
 
In section 4, subsection 6, we need to use the word "registered" rather than 
"licensed."  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
What is the difference between a licensed barber and a registered barber? 
 
MR. ALLEN: 
A registered barber is what other states call a master barber. A registered barber 
is more experienced than an apprentice barber.  
 
SENATOR HARDY: 
As I understand it, "registered" is a term of experience, whereas "licensed" 
means licensed by the State. It sounds like you want to say that barber 
instructors should be both registered and licensed, because we would like 
barber instructors to be licensed in Nevada as well as experienced. Is that what 
you are saying? 
 
MR. ALLEN: 
Yes. In Nevada, you have to be a registered barber to own and operate a barber 
shop.  
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SENATOR HARDY: 
Likewise, you also have to be licensed to be a barber in Nevada.  
 
MR. ALLEN: 
Yes. You first have to attend barber school for 1,500 hours. Once you complete 
the school, you take the exam and become an apprentice barber under a 
registered barber for 18 months. The apprentice barbers need to be overseen by 
a registered barber because the work can be dangerous when you work with a 
razor.  
 
I am a member of the Nevada Barber Association, and we support this bill and 
our Barber Board. 
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
The Website for the Barbers' Board, which is at <www.barber.nv.gov>, 
includes an explanation of registered barber and registered barber apprentice.  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
Ms. Braimoh, are you okay with Mr. Allen's changes? 
 
MS. BRAIMOH: 
Yes. I am confused, however, about Senator Settelmeyer's suggestion about 
the term limits. If a Barbers' Board member has served over 20 years, are we 
saying he could be appointed for one more term?  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
Essentially, yes. When his appointment ends, the Governor can reappoint him 
for one more term. The Governor does not have to reappoint him, but he can. 
 
MS. BRAIMOH: 
Moving forward, Barbers' Board members can only serve two four-year terms. 
Right? 
 
SENATOR SETTELMEYER: 
My concept was to make it 3 4-year terms, 12 years total. This would make the 
Barbers' Board match the other boards, as outlined in S.B. 69. Those who have 
been there a long time could only serve one additional four-year term, based on 
the idea that the current Governor had already allowed them to serve eight 
years. That would give the next Governor the right to give them an additional 
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four years. This would only be part of the bill if the Chair accepts the 
amendment, as the sponsor of the bill. 
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
The only concern I have is if we make the term limits too strict, you will have 
trouble finding people to serve on the Barbers' Board. I agree that 20-odd years 
is a bit long. Twelve years is legitimate.  
 
MS. BRAIMOH: 
I understand now, and I agree. We want to make sure we have Barbers' Board 
members who want to better the barber standards.  
 
MR. ALLEN: 
Thank you for that clarification. It is important that we do not make a drastic 
change. We appreciate our Barbers' Board and all the wonderful things they 
have done to keep health and sanitation in Nevada.  
 
CHAIR ATKINSON: 
I will close the hearing on S.B. 206. Is there any public comment? 
 
SHERESE SETTELMEYER: 
I am a cosmetologist, and I noticed a couple of comments about schools 
needing two instructors. I do not know if you have a place for provisional 
instructors in barber schools. Nevada had one barber school, and now it has 
two, and this is a big State. Even when you have two instructors, things can 
happen. If you only have two instructors, prospective licensees might not be 
able to get their required hours of instruction. If you had provisional instructors, 
you could have people being trained to be instructors occasionally teach, which 
would allow you to keep the doors open. That would allow you to have more 
instructors for your schools.  
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CHAIR ATKINSON: 
Is there any further public comment? Hearing none, I will adjourn the meeting at 
10:41 a.m. 
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